RECEIVED

MAY 29 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

ALAN WILSON
ATTORNEY GENERAL

May 29, 2014

The Honorable Daniel E. Shearouse
Clerk, South Carolina Supreme Court
Post Office Box 11330
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

**RE: Ian Rice, 274002 v. State of South Carolina
2013-001781**

Dear Mr. Shearouse:

I am enclosing the original and six (6) copies of the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and the original and two (2) copies of the Appendix in the above case.

Sincerely,

J. Rutledge Johnson
Assistant Attorney General

JRJ:cey
Enclosures

cc: Carmen V. Ganjehsani, Esquire
Trisha Allen, Victim Services

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAY 29 2014

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the PCR court err in finding Counsel ineffective for not objecting to clearing of the courtroom where there is no evidence in the record that people other than defendants from unrelated cases were excused and released from the courtroom by the assistant solicitor?
- II. Did the PCR court err in finding there was presumed prejudice under U.S. v. Cronig and where there was overwhelming evidence of Respondent's guilt?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ian Rice ("Respondent") was indicted at the October 2006, term of the Laurens County Grand Jury for Possession With Intent to Distribute Crack Cocaine Within Proximity to a Park or School (2006-GS-30-1587) and Distribution of Crack Cocaine (2006-GS-30-1588). Clyde L. Pennington, Jr., Esquire, represented him. On November 15, 2007, Respondent underwent trial, pursuant to which he was found guilty as indicted. The Honorable D. Garrison Hill concurrently sentenced him to confinement for a period of ten (10) years for Possession With Intent to Distribute Crack Cocaine Within Proximity to a Park or School and seventeen (17) years for Distribution of Crack Cocaine.

A Notice of Appeal was filed on Respondent's behalf; however it was dismissed on December 7, 2007. The Remittitur was sent on January 10, 2008.

Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief on June 9, 2008. Respondent made its Return on January 7, 2009. Respondent filed an amended application on January 18, 2013. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on March 11, 2013 at the Laurens County Courthouse. Respondent was present at the hearing and represented by Laura M. Saunders, Esquire. J. Rutledge Johnson, Esquire of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office represented the State. By Order filed on July 9, 2013, the Honorable Clifton B. Newman, Jr., granted post-conviction relief.

Respondent received written notice of the Order granting PCR on July 23, 2013. Respondent filed a timely Notice of Appeal on August 22, 2013. This petition follows.

ARGUMENTS

- I. **The PCR court erred in finding Counsel ineffective for not objecting to clearing of the courtroom where there is no evidence in the record that people other than defendants from unrelated cases were excused and released from the courtroom by the assistant solicitor.**

The PCR Court erred in finding Counsel ineffective for failing to object to the clearing of the courtroom prior to the Confidential Informant's (CI) testimony at Respondent's trial.

In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Applicant (in this case, Respondent) bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler, Id. Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984); Butler, Id.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, Id. The Applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the Applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, *citing* Strickland. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Respondent such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for

counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

At Respondent's trial, the solicitor, prior to the confidential informant (CI) testifying, asked for the courtroom to be cleared. (App. p. 36 lines 13-17). Whereupon, the trial judge asked the lawyers to approach for an unrecorded bench conference. (App. p. 36 lines 18-20). After this conference, the trial judge took a quick recess, excusing the jury from the courtroom. After the jury returned, the confidential informant, who purchased crack cocaine from the Respondent, testified as to her involvement in this case. (App. pp. 37-66).¹ On re-cross-examination by Counsel, the CI was asked about her ongoing involvement with law enforcement as a CI. To which the following colloquy occurred:

CI: I thought we were only, I thought we were only here to talk about [Respondent] and not everything else. I think case just has to do with [Respondent].

Counsel: Miss Sanford, I asked you if you had ever made any other buys in front of these twelve people with common sense and you said no?

CI: I didn't know I was supposed to say that in public and give names. I didn't know. That is why they cleared the courtroom.

(App. p. 66 lines 3-11).

At the evidentiary hearing, the solicitor (Ms. Zimmerman) testified the reason she asked for the courtroom to be cleared was that other defendants, who had pending cases in which the CI was working, were present in the courtroom. (App. p. 236 lines 4-22). She stated the CI was nervous about testifying because the defendants from other drug buys were present. The

¹ Petitioner asserts there is no evidence in the record that the trial judge closed the courtroom or disallowed any citizens from entering the courtroom during Respondent's trial.

solicitor also testified she had discussions with the trial judge and Counsel about the fact that at the solicitor's request, the other defendants were there, and therefore, the solicitor could ask that the other defendants be cleared from the courtroom. The solicitor lastly testified she believed this was a non-issue as it was for the protection of the CI. (App. p. 238 lines 18-22).

Additionally, Counsel admitted he did not object to the clearing of the courtroom on the record, but testified that at the unrecorded bench conference, he explained to the trial judge that he saw no reason to close the courtroom. (App. p. 245 lines 7-9). Counsel also indicated the judge explained since the solicitor was the one holding the other defendants in the courtroom, the solicitor could decide to let them leave the trial. (App. p. 245 lines 11-14). Counsel further testified he did not think closing the courtroom for the CI was "a big deal," and opined it would have made no difference on appeal. (App. 247 lines 6-11).

Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39 (1984) and Presley v. Georgia, 120 S.Ct. 721 (2010) stand for the proposition that a right to a public trial is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. "The requirement of a public trial is for the benefit of the accused; that the public may see he is fairly dealt with and not unjustly condemned, and that the presence of interested spectators may keep his triers keenly alive to a sense of their responsibility and to the importance of their functions..." Waller at 46, 104 S. Ct. at 2215. However, courts have also held that protecting witnesses such as a CI is a compelling interest sufficient to permit the closure of the courtroom during that witness's testimony. Cf. Brown v. Kuhlman, 142 F.3d 529, 537-538 (2d Cir. 1998) (recognizing preservation of undercover officer's safety as a compelling interest sufficient to permit closure of courtroom during officer's testimony); United

States v. De Los Santos, 810 F.2d 1326, 1334 (5th Cir.1987) (safety of confidential informant and potential apprehension of suspected narcotics dealers constituted overriding interest).

First, there is no evidence in the record indicating the trial judge ever “closed” the courtroom so that other citizens were denied access to the courtroom. Second, the solicitor wanted the courtroom cleared for the safety of the CI as the CI was working or had worked on other drug buy cases. Defendants from those other drug buy cases were present in the courtroom at the beginning of the Respondent’s trial at the solicitor’s request. Counsel testified that, at the unrecorded bench conference, he explained to the trial judge that he found no reason for the courtroom to be closed, but the trial judge stated since the solicitor had the other defendants present at her request, she was allowed to release them from the courtroom. Both the solicitor and Counsel testified the “closure” of the courtroom for the CI’s testimony was a non-issue. Additionally, the solicitor testified the CI was very nervous because the other defendants were in the courtroom. As evidenced by the CI’s testimony, she knew she was there for the Respondent’s trial only and not those of the other defendants. Clearly, protection of the CI in this case would warrant closing the courtroom during her testimony. As such, Counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the closure. This Court should reverse the PCR court based on its erroneous legal analysis as there is no evidence the courtroom was ever “closed” and further, because if there was a closure of the courtroom, it was for a brief time and for a compelling reason.

II. The PCR court erred in finding there was presumed prejudice under U.S. v. Cronic and where there was overwhelming evidence of Respondent's guilt.

The PCR court erred by finding presumed prejudice by Counsel's failure to object to the "closure" of the courtroom. The PCR further erred in holding U.S. v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S.Ct. 2039 (1984) is applicable to this case. Additionally, Respondent cannot prove resulting prejudice in this case due to the overwhelming evidence of his guilt.

U.S. v. Cronic is inapplicable

Contrary to the PCR court's order, this case clearly does not fall under the rubric of U.S. v. Cronic and thus, presumed prejudice is inapplicable. "In Cronic, the Court identified three distinct situations in which a presumption of prejudice is appropriate. First, prejudice is presumed when the defendant is completely denied counsel 'at a critical stage of his trial.'" Nance v. Ozmint, 367 S.C. 547, 551-52, 626 S.E.2d 878, 880 (2006). "Second, per-se prejudice occurs if there has been a constructive denial of counsel. This happens when a lawyer 'entirely fails to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing,' thus making 'the adversary process itself presumptively unreliable.'" Id. "Third, the Court identified certain instances 'when although counsel is available to assist the accused during trial, the likelihood that any lawyer, even a fully competent one, could provide effective assistance is so small that a presumption of prejudice is appropriate without inquiry into the actual conduct of the trial.'" Id.

The PCR court held Respondent's case fell under both the first and second prongs. This analysis is misguided. Under the first prong, Respondent would have to show he was completely denied counsel 'at a critical stage of his trial.' This cannot be shown. Counsel was present during the entire trial and defended Respondent throughout his trial. Plainly, Respondent was not

denied counsel ‘at a critical stage of his trial.’ Under the second prong, Respondent must show Counsel ‘entirely fail[ed] to subject the prosecution’s case to meaningful adversarial testing.’ As found in the trial transcript, Counsel gave an opening statement, thoroughly cross-examined each of the State’s witnesses, presented a closing argument, and made motions and objections on Respondent’s behalf. Clearly, Counsel subjected the prosecution’s case to a meaningful adversarial testing. Therefore, presumed prejudice under Cronic is inapplicable to Respondent’s case.

Respondent not denied right to a public trial

Next, the PCR court held the “denial of right to a public trial” in this case was a structural error under Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967) and Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1(1999). Respondent asserted because Neder mentions Waller, supra, as an example of a ‘structural error’ in that there was a denial of a right to a public trial, Respondent’s case is not subject to a harmless-error analysis. The United States Supreme Court has held a structural error applies in a “very limited number of cases.” Neder at 8. “A ‘structural’ error, [US Supreme Court] explained in Arizona v. Fulminante², is a ‘defect affecting the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself.’” Johnson v. United States, 520 U.S. 461, 468, 117 S. Ct. 1544, 1549 (1997). The denial to the right to a public trial in Waller was held to be a structural error because the closure of the entire suppression hearing was unjustified due to the fact the State failed to specify whose interests were being infringed. Interestingly, there was no structural error found in Neder and thus, it was subject to the harmless error rule.

² 499 U.S. 279, 111 S.Ct 1246 (1991).

Respondent was not denied the right to a public trial. The public was allowed to remain in the courtroom during jury voir dire and selection, unlike Presley, *supra*. The only time the courtroom was cleared was during the CI's testimony. As explained above, this was done because there were other defendants, on whose cases the CI was working, present in the courtroom that made the CI quite nervous. Without clearing the courtroom, the CI might not have testified as truthfully and frankly as she did. While there seems to be no indication in the record that the trial judge affirmatively "re-opened" the courtroom, no evidence was presented at the PCR hearing that the courtroom remained closed during Respondent's entire trial. While Counsel testified only the other defendants were in the courtroom during the trial, Respondent claims members of his family were also present. However, none of these family members testified at the PCR hearing that they were denied access to the courtroom during the trial. See Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 509 S.E.2d 807 (1998) (Respondent must provide testimony of witnesses at the PCR hearing in accordance with the rules in order to prove prejudice). Since there was no evidence presented that the courtroom was closed during the entirety of the Respondent's trial, to presume such would be pure speculation. Since there was no structural error in this case as Respondent was not denied the right to a public trial, this case is subject to the harmless error analysis, which includes an overwhelming evidence of guilt analysis.

Overwhelming evidence of guilt

Petitioner submits there was overwhelming evidence of the Respondent's guilt in this case, and as such, any alleged deficiency by Counsel is not prejudicial under Strickland, *supra*.

"Since Chapman, [the US Supreme Court has] repeatedly reaffirmed the principle that an otherwise valid conviction should not be set aside if the reviewing court may confidently say, on

the whole record, that the constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 681, 106 S. Ct. 1431, 1436 (1986). Where there is overwhelming evidence of guilt, a trial counsel’s deficient representation will not be prejudicial. Ford v. State, 314 S.C. 245, 442 S.E.2d 604 (1994); See also Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001), Geter v. State, 305 S.C. 365, 409 S.E.2d 344 (S.C. 1991).

In this case, the CI testified she bought crack cocaine from Respondent. (Tr. p. 40 lines 2-7). The CI also identified the two videos, which were introduced at trial, that recorded of her buying crack cocaine from Respondent. (Tr. p. 43 lines 2-6). The first was her purchasing crack cocaine from Respondent, and the second was making sure Respondent was clearly on camera. (Tr. p. 44 lines 18-22). These videos showed Respondent wearing a distinctive North Carolina State University tee-shirt during the transaction. (Tr. p. 77 lines 7-12). The CI also testified she knew Respondent prior to the drug transaction, and this is one of the reasons she was able to readily identify Respondent. (Tr. p. 54 lines 6-9). Additionally, Officer Goggins testified he recognized Respondent and his voice on the first video. (Tr. p. 76 line 24- p. 77 line 10). Therefore, Officer Goggins had the CI travel back to find Respondent and record a clear video showing Respondent’s face, while the Respondent was wearing the same shirt. (Tr. p. 77 lines 10-12; p. 84 lines 7-16). Further, Kukila Stanley, an expert in the chemical components of a controlled substance testified she tested the crack cocaine bought from Respondent and confirmed that the substance was, in fact, .2 grams of crack cocaine. Lastly, Respondent has two prior convictions for possession and distribution of crack cocaine, which proves a lack of mistake occurred in this case. Clearly, through these witnesses, Respondent was involved in the distribution of crack cocaine. As such, there is overwhelming evidence of his guilt in this case,

and therefore, any alleged errors of Counsel cannot be deemed to have prejudiced Respondent's case. Even assuming this Court does not find overwhelming evidence of guilt, viewing the record as a whole, any constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt pursuant to Van Arsdall, supra.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should grant certiorari and reverse the PCR Court as not only was Counsel effective in his representation of Respondent, but also because first, U.S. v. Cronic is inapplicable to this case and second, because Respondent can prove no resulting prejudice from Counsel's alleged errors due to the overwhelming evidence of Respondent's guilt in this case.