DONALD

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Laurens County

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

OCT 15 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

IAN RICE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001781

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The State's argument that there was no evidence in the record that the courtroom was closed to the public during Respondent's trial is (1) not preserved for appellate review; and (2) unfounded as the transcript of Respondent's trial and the testimony at the PCR evidentiary hearing establishes that the courtroom was closed to the public during the testimony of two witnesses.**

The State first contends that the PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the clearing of the courtroom, arguing that there was no evidence in the record that people other than defendants from unrelated cases were excused and released from the courtroom by the solicitor.

This argument is not preserved for appellate review by this Court. The State did not make this argument to the PCR court at either the evidentiary hearing or in its Memorandum submitted to the PCR court in opposition to the application for post-conviction relief. App. 216-226; 285, 1. 23 – 287, 1. 22. The PCR court therefore did not rule on this specific issue now asserted by the State that the courtroom was in fact not closed. App. 292-305. The State did not file any Rule 59(e) motion with the PCR court for any reconsideration of this issue which the State did not even raise in the first instance.

“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.” Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000). Therefore, the State cannot argue for the first time on appeal that there was no evidence that the courtroom was in fact closed.

Furthermore, the trial transcript and the testimony at the PCR evidentiary hearing established that the courtroom was closed. “This Court will uphold the findings of the PCR

judge when there is any evidence of probative value to support them.” Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007).

Just before the confidential informant’s testimony, the solicitor requested to the Trial Court that the courtroom “be cleared” prior to the confidential informant taking the stand. App. 36, ll. 13-17. During her testimony at trial before the jury, the confidential informant referenced the courtroom being cleared. App. 66, ll. 9-11.

At the PCR hearing, Mr. Rice’s trial counsel confirmed that the Trial Court had in fact closed the courtroom: “The Court essentially make [sic] it clear that he was going to let people go and close the courtroom.” App. 245, ll. 24-25. Trial counsel furthermore testified that after the confidential informant testified, there was no mention in the trial transcript of the courtroom being reopened to the public and that additional testimony was taken while the courtroom was still closed, specifically the testimony of Detective Goggins. App. 246, ll. 1-7. Finally, Mr. Rice testified that he had family and friends present in the courtroom right before the courtroom was cleared. App. 264, ll. 3-22.

Therefore, even if this issue is preserved, there was certainly evidence in the record establishing that the courtroom was indeed closed when both the confidential informant and Detective Goggins testified during the trial of Mr. Rice. The PCR court did not err in determining that the courtroom was closed.

II. The State's argument that protection of the confidential informant warranted closure of the courtroom is not preserved for this Court's review where the State has not presented this argument in its questions presented for review to this Court.

Included under the State's argument that there was no evidence in the record that people other than defendants from unrelated cases were excused and released from the courtroom by the solicitor is a brief mention that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the closure of the courtroom because protection of the confidential informant warranted closing of the courtroom during her testimony. See State's Petition, p. 7.

The State, however, does not raise this argument in its questions presented for this Courts' review. See State's Petition, p. 2. "Ordinarily, no point will be considered on appeal which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal." See Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 466, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642-43 (2012). Therefore, this argument by the State is not preserved for this Court's review.

III. Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object on the record to the closure of the courtroom and by failing to preserve the issue for appellate review where the Trial Court's closure of the courtroom during the testimony of the confidential informant and a police officer would have been reversed on appeal. The State advanced no overriding interest that was likely to be prejudiced, the closure was broader than it needed to be, the Trial Court did not consider reasonable alternatives to closing the proceeding, and the Trial Court did not make findings adequate to support the closure of the courtroom.

Even if preserved, there is no merit to the State's argument that the closure of the courtroom was warranted in this case for protection of the confidential informant. The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant a public trial. Waller v. Georgia is the seminal United State Supreme Court case to analyze the accused's explicit right to a public trial under the Sixth Amendment. 467 U.S. 39 (1984). Waller also recognizes the coextensive nature between a defendant's right to a public trial under the Sixth Amendment and that of the public under the First Amendment:

Nevertheless, there can be little doubt that the explicit Sixth Amendment right of the accused is no less protective of a public trial than the implicit First Amendment right of the press and public. The central aim of a criminal proceeding must be to try the accused fairly, and "[o]ur cases have uniformly recognized the public-trial guarantee as one created for the benefit of the defendant.

Id. at 46 (internal citations omitted).

A public trial ensures that the public will see that a defendant is "fairly dealt with and not unjustly condemned, and that the presence of interested spectators may keep his triers keenly alive to a sense of their responsibility and to the importance of their functions."

A public trial is for the benefit of the accused. Id. (internal citations omitted).

The Waller Court held further that under the Sixth Amendment, any closure of a suppression hearing over the objections of the accused must meet the following test: the party seeking to close the hearing must advance an overriding interest that is likely to be prejudiced; the closure must be no broader than necessary to protect the interest; the trial court must consider reasonable alternatives to closing the hearing; and it must make findings adequate to support the closure.” Id. at 48; see also Press Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court of California, 464 U.S. 501, 510 (1984) (“The presumption of openness may be overcome only by an overriding interest based on findings that closure is essential to preserve higher values and is narrowly tailored to serve that interest. The interest is to be articulated along with findings specific enough that a reviewing court can determine whether the closure order was properly entered.”).

In recent years, the United States Supreme Court has stressed that “[t]rial courts are obligated to take every reasonable measure to accommodate the public attendance at criminal trials.” Presley v. Georgia, 130 S. Ct. 721, 725 (2010).

In Mr. Rice’s case, the State did not advance an overriding interest that was likely to be prejudiced. At the PCR hearing, the solicitor testified that she only wanted the courtroom cleared because her own office was forcing other defendants in unrelated cases to remain in the courtroom and she was worried those defendants would figure out that Amanda Sanford was the confidential informant in their cases. App. 237, ll. 4-22. The solicitor testified that the confidential informant was nervous about testifying in front of those defendants. App. 237, ll. 12-16.

Closure of the courtroom to the public was not necessary to alleviate the State’s concern. The State simply could have told defendants in unrelated cases that they did not

have to remain in the courtroom. Mr. Rice's trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing that these defendants most likely would have all left if not for the State requiring them to remain in the courtroom. App. 245, ll. 11-14.

Contrary to any argument by the State that the confidential informant might have been more truthful with the courtroom closed, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that a public trial "encourages witnesses to come forward and discourages perjury." Waller, 467 U.S. at 46. There was no necessity to close the entire courtroom to the public simply because the confidential informant was nervous about testifying. The confidential informant's testimony was the key piece of evidence against Mr. Rice, and he was entitled to a public trial during her testimony so that the public could see that he was being fairly dealt with. Id.

Furthermore, the Trial Court did not articulate any specific findings on the record supporting the closure of the courtroom and certainly did not ensure that the closure was no broader than necessary where the courtroom remained closed to the public during Detective Goggins' testimony. The State has never advanced any reason why the courtroom should have remained closed during Detective Goggins' testimony. The Trial Court also did not consider any reasonable alternatives to closing the courtroom.

The cases cited by the State for the proposition that protection of witnesses is a compelling interest to permit closure of the courtroom during the witness's testimony are inapplicable to Mr. Rice's case, especially where in Mr. Rice's case the courtroom remained closed during the testimony of a witness (Detective Goggins) who was not in need of any sort of protection. In addition, the trial courts in these cases complied with the factors set forth in Waller unlike the Trial Court in Mr. Rice's case. Cf. Brown v. Kuhlmann, 142 F.3d

529 (2nd Cir. 1998) (holding brief closure of trial during testimony of undercover officer, whose testimony was merely corroborative, did not violate right to a public trial and further noting that trial court made findings adequate to support closure); United States v. De Los Santos, 810 F.2d 1326 (5th Cir. 1987) (finding the trial court met all four requirements of Waller to close suppression hearing).

The Trial Court's closure of the courtroom in Mr. Rice's trial did not comport with the factors set forth in Waller. Accordingly, Mr. Rice's trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object on the record to the closure of the courtroom and for failing to preserve this issue for appellate review where the Trial Court's closure of the courtroom would not have withstood scrutiny on appeal.

IV. The PCR court correctly ruled that Respondent suffered actual prejudice by trial counsel's deficient performance in failing to object on the record to the closure of the courtroom and for failing to preserve the issue for appeal where the Trial Court's closure of the courtroom would have been reversed on appeal. Furthermore, had the Trial Court's error in closing the courtroom been preserved for appellate review, such error would not have been subject to a harmless error or overwhelming evidence of guilt analysis where the denial of a public trial is a structural error subject to automatic reversal.

The State's second question presented for this Court's review is whether the PCR court erred in finding there was presumed prejudice under United States v. Cronin, 466 U.S. 468 (1984) and erred in granting post-conviction relief where there was alleged overwhelming evidence of Mr. Rice's guilt.

The PCR court did not simply find that there was presumed prejudice but also ruled that Mr. Rice suffered actual prejudice under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) due to his trial counsel's failure to object to the closure of the courtroom on the record and failure to preserve this issue for appellate review. App. 302-303. As explained above, had trial counsel objected to the closure of the courtroom on the record, the issue would have been preserved for and reversed on appeal where the State advanced no overriding interest that was likely to be prejudiced, the closure was broader than it needed to be, the Trial Court did not consider reasonable alternatives to closing the proceeding, and the Trial Court did not make findings adequate to support the closure.

The State attempts to argue that Mr. Rice was not prejudiced by his trial counsel's failure to object on the record to the closure of the courtroom because the courtroom was only closed during the confidential informant's testimony. First, that is an incorrect assertion because the evidence at the PCR hearing established that the courtroom remained

closed during not only the confidential informant's testimony, but during Detective Goggins' testimony as well. App. 246, ll. 1-7.

Second, the State appears to argue that Mr. Rice was not prejudiced by this trial counsel's deficient performance because the courtroom was not closed during the entire trial. Mr. Rice's trial was closed to the public during the testimony of at least two crucial witnesses. The United States Supreme Court has made it clear that the unjustified closure of any portion of a trial violates a defendant's Sixth Amendment public trial guarantee. In Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39 (1984), the Court held that closure of the suppression hearing prior to the trial testimony violated the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a public trial. In Presley v. Georgia, 130 S. Ct. 721 (2010), the Court held that a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a public trial was violated when the public was excluded from the voir dire of prospective jurors.

Therefore, even if the entire trial does not remain closed to the public, a defendant's right to a public trial can still be violated if any portion of the trial is closed. Mr. Rice's trial was unjustifiably closed during the testimony of two witnesses, including the State's star witness, and no doubt his right to a public trial under the Sixth Amendment was violated. The State's contention that he was not prejudiced because his entire trial was not closed is without merit.

Finally, the State argues that any alleged overwhelming evidence of guilt precludes a finding that Mr. Rice was prejudiced by his trial counsel's deficient performance. The prejudice to Mr. Rice results from his trial counsel's failure to preserve an issue that would have been reversed on appeal. On appeal, the Trial Court's unjustified closure of the courtroom would not have been subject to a harmless error or overwhelming evidence of

guilt analysis because the United States Supreme Court has recognized that the denial of a public trial is a structural error subject to automatic reversal. Neder v. United States, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 1833 (1990) (referencing Waller). A structural error contains a “defect affecting the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself.” Neder, 119 S. Ct. at 1833 (internal citations omitted). Such an error deprives a defendant of “basic protections without which a criminal trial cannot reliably serve its function as a vehicle for determination of guilt or innocence . . . and no criminal punishment may be regarded as fundamentally fair.” Id. (internal citations omitted).

The State therefore improperly inserts an overwhelming evidence guilt analysis where it does not apply. Moreover, there was not overwhelming evidence of Mr. Rice’s guilt where his face did not appear on the video of the drug transaction and therefore the question of whether Amanda Sanford purchased the drugs from him greatly depended on her credibility – credibility which was not tested because the Trial Court improperly closed the courtroom during her testimony. See Waller, 467 U.S. at 46 (noting that public trials discourage perjury).

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the PCR court's Order granting post-conviction relief to Respondent Ian Rice is supported by well-established law and the facts present in his case. Accordingly, this Court should deny the State's Petition for a Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR's court grant of a new trial for Mr. Rice.